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Buckville Cemetery has a picturesque qualitv, quietly sitting between the north shore of Lake Ouachita and 
Buckville Road, It is the final testing place for many of the area's early settlers and prominent citizens. The 
cemetery contains 303 burials, 223 (or 73.6%) are historic. The non-contributing burials number about 49, or 
162%. There are 3 1 burials with markers but no dates 

The cemetery is named for the town of BuckviUe, Arkansas, which now sits below the waters of Lake 
Ouachih The town's name was derivd from one of the early families which settled in the area, the Buck's, 
of which there were many in the area. 

The kst known burial is that of Frank Howley who died A u w t  22,186 1. It is believed that some of the 
*--known burials were before Hausley3, but there is no documentation. The most recent buriaI was in 2003, 

: ~ i n g  that the cemetery itself has been in use for about 142 years. 

Buckville Cemetery sits about 25 to 30 feet from the shora of Lake Ouachita It is the last enduring portion 
of the Buckville community still in it original location. Adjacent to the cemetery, and outside the boundaries 
of this nomination, is the Buckville Baptist Church which was moved above water level in summer of 1951. 

The cemetery is maintained by the Buckville Cemetery Association. The association was created for net only 
the care of this cemetery, but for the care of three other relocated cemeteies (Yew Cedar Glades, Bradley, 
Williamson, and Brooks) nearby. 

A chain link fence, which is non-contributing to this nomination, was added in the 1 9 6 0 ~ ~  and encircles the 
cemetery. Concrete steps are located on the lake side of the cemetery, and Iead to the driveway that divides 
the cemetery from the lake" shore. These steps were added in the 1970s, and are also non-contributing to 
the nomination. For those approaching the Buckville Cemetery by vehicle, the cemetery and lake create a 
picturesque appearance from the road atop the hill. 

The markers in Buckville Cemetery are typical of their time period, ranging from simple, non-descriptive 
markers, to elaborate monuments. The majority of the graves are encircled with fieldstones, which gives tbe 
appearance of bedstead or cradle g a v a .  Several of the p v e s  have very simple fieldstone markers, but the 
majority of the gave markers are more elaborate, with Victorian funerary art and inscriptions adorning the 
markers. Coping surrounds a good number of individual graves and family lots-some with decorative 

i -ing posts-and a few graves and lots are surrounded by decorative, turn-of-the-century iron fencing. 
;ated in the cemetery are several Woodmen of the World monuments, as well as several obelisk markers, 

pulpit markers, pedestal tombs, and of course, numerous tab-in-socket and die-on-base markers. Although 
the historic and modern burials are interspersed throughout the cemetery, it is easy to discern the historic 
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graves from the non-histosic. One of the most interesting aspects of the Bvckville Cemetery is the rather 
random burial pattern. The graves seem to face every direction, and seem to follow the contour of the 
cernetery*~ shape, a shield. Families appear to have buried their dead in the most desirable spots, regardless 
of the grave's close proximity to the neighboring g a v e  and family burial lots. 

The historic and non-historic burials are scattered within the cemetery, but it is easily to determine the 
historic graves from the nun-historic. Many of the unknown graves are marked with fieldstone headstones, 
or are encircled by rocks, These are all historic, and it is believed that some may be older that the first known 
marked grave, Fmnk Housley in 1 86 1. 

%e cemetery has trees on the cast and west sides of the cemetery, and the center is open. The grounds have 
n altered very little since the 1960s. The stairs leading to Lake Ouachita have been updated and the fence 

~ncirc~ing the cemetery has b e n  updated, but these two objects remain in their original location. 

Breakdown of Burials by Decade 

Number of Historic Burials - 223 

Total Number of Burials - 303 marked, possibly others without markers. 

Historic 

Of these, there are 223 (or 73.6%) historic burials, excluding those with unknown death dates or unknown 
graves. ?'he- breakdown of burials is as follows: 

Through 1863 
1864- 1873 
1874 - 1883 
1884- 1893 
1894 - 1903 
1904- 1913 
1914 - 1923 
1924 - 1933 
1934 - 1943 
1944- 1953 
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Non-Historic burids in the cemetery range from 1954 to the present, and account for 49, or 16.2% of the 
marked burials in the Buckville Cemetery. The breakdown of Burials by Decade is as follows: 

The most recent burial occurred in 2003. There are an additional 3 1 grave that have markers, but no dates. 

"metery is still actively used: however, plots are no longer availabIe for purchase. 

Laadscape Desim 

Burials mainIy face the east. The historic and modern burials are mixed with in the cemetery but it is easily 
to determine what ones are old and modern. Many of the unknown graves are marked with fieldstones, 
edging, or encircled by rocks to distinguish were ones loved one was placed. These are all historic and it is 
believed that some might be older than the first known marked cmve, Frank Housley. in 1861. 

The cemetery has trees on the east and west sides of the cemetery, md the center is open. The grounds have 
been altered very Tittle since the 1960s. The stairs on the south side ofthe cemeterg, and fence have been 
updated but they remain in there original place. On the north side of the cemetq.  outside of the cemetery 
boundaries, is the Buckville Baptist Church and the pavilion area. The  church was moved from its original 
location in 195 1, has non-historic vinyl siding applied to the exterior, and has a new, metal roof. Under the 
pavilion there are several picnic tables. In front of the church there is a bench that surrounds a tree. 

Grave Markers and Monuments 

Outstanding and unusual markers are in the Buchille Cemetery include the marker of J. H. Dozier (1 873 - 
191 8). This Woodman of the World marker is in the typical tree-trunk form, resting atop several stacked 
formed logs. Cal ta lilies and ivy adorn the bottom of the monument. 

; 
2 monument for F. E. Gass (1 867 - 19 13) is a pedestal tomb-urn on top. Made of marble, this is a very 

stately monument. Gass' grave is encIosed by a bow & picket iron fence. 
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Robat B. Talley's (1859 - f 908) marker is a pedestal tomb-vaulted roof. Leaves decorate the top of the 
inscription, with fleur-de-lis embellishing the bottom. 

Thelma Ryan Sexton's (1 586 - 1922) marker, which is a marble die, base 8 cap, is decorated with two 
columns, one etched on either side. An open gate, referencing the Gates of Heaven, embellishes the center of 
the marker. A single dove soars above the open gate. An anchor is at the top ofthe flat face of the 
monument. This anchor, upon closer inspection, is a disguised cross, either symbolizing hope and 
steadfastness, or illustrating that Christ prevents people from drifting off and becoming lost. 

Other historic markers in the Buckville Cemetery include tab in socket, die on base, raised top, pulpit 
markers, obelisk, and simple tombstones. A few of the tab in socket markers boast the cyma recta. or 
tympanum form on top, but the majority of the marker arch forms are the typical basket, segmented, 
--nicircular, rectangular, or pointed arch form. A handful of the graves, whether they be individua1 graves 

mily lots, are surrounded by coping. 

The markers in the cemetery are made of various materials, but the majority are made of either granite or 
marble. Although the historic and non-historic burials are interspersed with one another in the cemetery, it is 
easily to determine one g o u p  from the other. 

The Buckville Cemetery is well maintained, and has not seen any aIterations over the years. Although the 
Buchlle Baptist Church was relocated above the waterline of Lake Ouachita in the 1950s, and a chain link 
fence and concrete steps leading from the lake were added in the 1960s, the ody alteration to the graves and 
grave markers themselves has been wear and tear brought on by weather and time. As such, the Buckville 
Cemetery retains all seven elements of integritytylocation, design, setting, materials, association, feeling, and 
workmanship. 
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T h e  Buckville Cemetery, located in the Avant vicinity7 Garland Counp, Arkansas, is eEigible for listing in the 
National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A with local significance as the most-intact resource 
associated with the community of Buckville, Garland County, Arkansas, which was covered by the waten of 
Zake Ouachita after construction of the Blakely Dam in the mid- 1950s. The cemetery is also eligible for 
incIusion under Criteria Consideration D: as a cemetery. 

There is no documentation of when the cemetery first began to be used; however, Frank Housley's burial 
( I  861 ) is the first marked burial. In Inez E, Cline and Bobbie Jones McLane's book, Gadand Cow@, 
Arkansas: Tombstone lnscriptions Western, Voltlme I i  Cline states that in 1873, Henry H. Williamson and 
Seaborn Brown donated the land for the cemetery. Lnfomnately, there is no documentation of this action. 

k g  through deed records, it appears that the cemetery was never officially parceled out, as is typical of 
;.,my cemeteries in the state. In 1952, The Buckville Cemetery Association was given the deeds to three 

cemeteries moved by the U. S. Amy Corps Enginms, those being Sew Cedar Glades, New Bradley and 
New Pittman cemeteries. From that time forward, the Association has owned the four cemeteries. 

Town and Countv Histow 

Blakdy Dam near Mountain Pine, Garland County, Arkansas, is an example of the federal government's 
attempts for an overall flood control and hydroelectric power program. In addition to the dam creating Lake 
Ouachita, it opened a broad realm of recreational opportunities. Those who enjoy the benefits the dam 
brought to the area seldom consider the individuals whose lives were pemanentIy changed as a result of the 
darn's construction. The resewoir's completion in the mid-1950s result& in a complete dissolution of 
society in norlhwestm Garland County. The only remaining visible links to these lost communities in its 
original Iocalion is the Buckville Cemetery. 

According to Hester A. Davis in her article "A History of Prehistory in the Mid-Ouachita River Valley," 
which appeared in the Garland County Historical Societies, The Record, the Caddo Indians first inhabited the 
land covered by Lake Ouachita. "Indian sites have been found in almost every field bordering on the 
Ouachita and Caddo Rivers." In 1939, there were two important archeological studies. These studies, of the 
Adair site and Poole site, provided evidence of concentrations of p u p s  related to the Caddo tribe. 

I' 
,~rtlement in the Northwest Garland Counw area of Arkansas resembled that of the rest of ml Arkansas, in 
that farms were established close to water sources - creeks and rivers. As early as the 1840s, public land 
surveyors noted fields near waterways, and early census records name farming as the occupation of the large 
rnajoriw of the settlers. In 18 19, when the Arkansas Territory was formed. the area covered by the 1956 
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creation of Lake Ouachita first officially resided in Clark Countr, then Hot Spring County when it was 
formed in 1829; and then Montgomery County foIIowing its creation in 1842. In T 9 17, the area made is fmal 
move into Garland County. Four townships were created: Buckville, Cedar Glades, Crystal, and Bear. 

By the time of the Civil War, many small communities had sprung up around the area of the Ouachita River 
and its tributaries in Garland Counv, however, much of the back country remained unoccupied. A few of 
these settlers owned slaves and operated their farms typical of the Southern small plantations. Most were 
self-sufficient, subsistence farmers. The region suffered great disruption during the Civil War. but afterward, 
the region benefited greatly with an increase in population. 

In Biographical and Historical lM~mairs of Western Arkansas (1 891) by Goodspeed, the Buckville and Cedar 
Glades communities warranted mention because of their growth. Buckville is described as follows: 

i 
A flourislung little town eighteen miles east of Mount Ida, and hventy-two miles norzhwest of Hot 
Springs. Many of the solid f m e r s  of the county reside in this locality. Cotton and corn are the 
principal products. The population is estimated at about 1.00. In the event of the electric process 
becoming an assured success this region will become a gat mining district, as there are 
inexhaustible mineral deposits here. 

Cedar Glades, a nearby community, out-numbered Buckville in population, and is described in the following 
statement: 

(With) a population of 250, (it) is twentytwo miles east of Mount Ida and twenty miles northwest of 
Hot Springs, and is surrounded by good f m i n g  country There is a good school-house 'here. 

These two communities, because of their concentrations of residents, became important communities in the 
sparsely-settled Ouachita Mountains by the turn of the 20'bcentury. Churches were built by these settlers that 
also served as community schools. Baptist churches - incIuding the BuckvilIe Baptist Church (which was 
moved from its original location, and is outside the boundaries of the Buckville Cemetery nomination) - 
proved most numerous, but Methodist churches aIso existed for a time at both Cedar Glades and Buckvjlle. 
The largest schools operating in the area were at Buckville, Cedar Glades, and the nearby community of 
Avant. The area of southeastern Montgomery County (now northwestern GaIand County) exemplified rural 
upland life in Arkansas during the early-20Ih century. 

According to Dr. Wendy Richter, "One of the region's most important resources, the Ouachita Riva; became 
the reason for the complete dissolution of society in a large portion of northwestern Garland County. For 

, wries, the river carried the waters of its drainase area; sometimes in a ra@ng torrent, but at others, at only 
. . ~ckle. The upper Ouachita existed as an untapped resource, of little benefit to anyone, and even a menace 

to some. The rives's change from a steep drop to a gradual incline resulted in a flooding problem for yem. 
The drop in elevation from BIakely Mountain (about ten miles northwest of Hot Springs) forced water to 
flow downstream rapidly when the river was Tull, but this water naturally slowed down an$ spread out when 
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it met sEowea-moving water below Camden in south Arkansas. The incline resulted in extreme variation in 
stream flow as well, virtually eliminating the possibility of year-round travel on the river. 

In the 1870s, the United State Congress authorized the first survey of the Ouachita River to determine what 
could be done to reduce flooding and improve navigation. Public and private companies have revisf ted the 
issue since that time. The conclusion of the mgneers was that they could not justify the use of taxpayer's 
money on the grounds of navigational purposes alone. They conduded that if someone, or some business or 
corporation, could mee t4o l l a r  for dollar-with the govements efforts and could utilize what little 
hydroelectric power that was generated by a dam on the Ouachfta River at Blakely Mountain, something 
could be done regarding the flooding and navigation issues. 

In the 1920~~ Harvey Couch and his company, Arkansas Light & Pourer (Iater Arkansas Power & Light, or 

J 
"&L), made plans to control the river. Work began on the first of three dams in 1923. Lake Catherine, a 

.I1 lake of 3,000 acres located primarily in Hot Spring County. was created by Remmel Dam in 1924 (YR 
listed 09i04i1992). The second and larger dam, Carpenter Dam (KT listed 09/04/1992), which is located 
upriver from Remrnel Dam, was wmpleted about ten years later in 1932. This dam created Lake Hamf lton, 
which contains 7,000 square acres. 

Couch planned for a third and final d m  which would be an even larser one at Blakely Mountain. This was 
the site originally considered by the Army Corps of Engineers. The dam would be between 150 and 175 feet 
high, and would create a reservoir covering between 25,000 and 3 5,00Q acres of land. In June 1938, the Hot 
Springs New Em newspaper headline boasted "$6,000,000 Dam North of City Nears Reality." Hatvey 
Couch was quoted as promising the dam's "immediate construction." Of course, construction was pending 
based on the enactment of a Congressional flood control bill. Couch and his company continued with their 
plans, creating an ahnosphere in Buckville, Cedar Glades, and Crystal Springs that the end of these various 
communities was near. 

By the end of the 1920s, residents in Buckville, Cedar Glades and the other communities began to move 
away. In addition to the future construction of the third d m ,  mother factor was responsible for this: the 
Dierks Lumber Bc Coal Company. In 1922, the Dierks Company began to buy thousands of acres of Ouachi ta 
Mountain timberland to supply its hture mi11 at Mountain Pine, Garland County, Arkansas. Thek mill was 
located about one mile from where Couch proposed to place the third dam. 

By the early 1 BOOS, timber proved to be h e  United States' most useful raw materials. This resulted in the 
Ira and lumber industry emerging. By the 1880s: the Great Lakes lumbermen began look for other 
. r c s  of timber outside of their home regon due to the depletion of virgin timber in the North. The 

,ndustry relied on new, untapped sources, so it gradually moved westward. As the lumber companies moved 
south, the business became an important entity in Arkansas. The lack of adequate transportation played a 
roEe in much of the state's forests remaining unexplaited; therefore, by the 20"' century, the Ouachita 
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Mountains contained much of the world's largest supply of untapped shortleaf pine. This ultimately brought 
entrepreneurs seeking the region's timber, including the Dierks "nothers, 

The expansion of the railroad and the rapid growth of the timber industry in the 1880s resulted in many 
timber industries tapping this resource by the turn of the 20'" century. Many practiced the policy of "cut out 
and get out." Fortunately, the Dierks Lumber & Coal Company practiced some of the South's first forestry 
conservation policies. They sought to maintain an on-going source of timber for their operations. The 
company began to expand, purchasing "large new blocks of timber in the heart of the Ouchitas as a basis for 
two more double-band mills." 

Dierks Company first purchased Iand in Garland County in September 1922. The land it purchased was 
around Halves, near the site where Couch planned to build his third dam. Their philosophy was that the land 

d 
- -5 the proper location because AP&L would need the enti~e reservoir stripped of mes. The company went 

.o purchase more land in northwestern Garland County, in various parcel sizes. In 1928, the new 
c;rnpany town of Mountain Pine, formerly H a m ,  became fully operational. The company, by purchasing 
the land and timber rights in Couch" planned resmoir area, gained access to much of the area's virgin pine 
timber. 

Citizens began to move from the area in the 1 92 0s. With the fear of the looming construction of the dam, 
and the lucrative opportunity to sell their land to the timber industry for a fair price, many residents began to 
sell out and leave. The area would never be the same in that the ordinary rural Arkansas way of life was 
tmnsformed into an extraordinary existence for those who remained. 

The Dierks Company bought many acres of Iand in the area to supply timber to its Mountain Pine mill, and 
the following decade saw AP&L purchasing land ta fulfiIl its long-range plans for completion of the dam at 
Bl akel y Mountain. 

Even though residents sold their land and moved, the dam failed to get underway as scheduled, due to a 
series of problems. In 1939, AP&L applied to the FederaI Power Commission 20 postpone construction of 
the dam. The company anticipated a two-year delay. As a result, the commission terminated AP&L7s permit 
for construction, and the federal government began preliminary work itself, under the Vicksburg Pistrict of 
the Army Corps of Engineers. 

It was only after World War I1 that the government funded the project, allowing work to proceed. The Corps 
; Yngineers completed the task of l and acquisition, cemetery relocation (Bradley, Brooks, New Cedar 

.; d e s ,  and Williamson among others), and resemoir area cleMng by the end of 1952, and the earth-filled 
dam itself was finished shortly thereafter. In 1955 the first electkc power was produced by the facility, but 
the dam itself was not dedicated until July 4,1956. With its dedication ceremony, Blakely Darn formally 
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took its place as a vital feature of Arkansas's flood control and hydroelectric power program, and opened a 
new realm of recreational opportunities for sportsmen with the newly-created Lake Ouachita. 

Richter shows in her dissertation that the dedication looked to the fuhue, but thoughts of those who once 
lived in the area flooded by Lake Ouachita remained in the past. By 1956, a generation had gomm up with 
the knowledge that thousands of acres would be obliterated by the lake. The residents' ancestors 
homesteaded the region, cleared the land, built their homes. raised their families, buried their dead, and 
formed lasting relationships in the area, They witness the caring of the remains of family and friends away 
h m  local burial sites. With their lands sold, they watched as the forest was stripped and the buildings of 
their youth were tom down, and finally the land was flooded. The new lake changed their lives forever. 

She goes an to show that the construction of Blakely Mountain Dam resulted in an exodus for northwestern 
"-dand County beginning in the 1920s. It changed the Eives of the displaced people forever. Today ' ;h i l l e  Cemetny sits quietly on the north shore of Lake Ouachita in northwestem Garland County. The 
&etery is the only surviving remnant of the non-extant towns of Buckville and Cedar Glad= in its original 
location, making it an important symbol of those lost communities. 

The first known burial is that of Frank Housley? who died August 22, 186 1. It is believed that some of the 
unknolm burials were before Housley's, but there is no documentation to verify this. In 195 1, the Buckville 
Baptist Church was moved from the south side of the cemetery to the north side. The cemetery is the burial 
site of many ofthe individuals who filed for original land patents and other prominent citizens in the 
community. Bzlckville Cemeterqr is well maintained by the Buckville Cemetery Association. There are plans 
to continue burials, though the burial ratio is not expected to change much over the course of the coming 
years. 

SELECTED BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES OF THOSE BZ'RLED KV B U C ~ T L L E  CEMETERY 

George Washingrun Bradkey (1858- 1936): holds an original land patent in the area. 

Thomas Newton Bradley (1850-1926): holds an original land patent in the area. 

WilIinm Bill Bradley (1845- 1933): holds an original land patent in the area, 
i 

. .(.ester F%eeler Hatmaker (1884-1954): holds an original land patent in the area. 

James 0, Meek (1884-3918): holds an original land patent in the area. 
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WilIiam Rufer Robbins (1840-1892j: holds an original land patent in the area. 

George L. Willianlson (7860-1926): holds an original land patent in the area. 

Dr. Joseph W .  Shaw (1844-1924): Shaw served in the 3d Arkansas during the Civil War, and was appointed 
Postmaster at Buckville on June 24, I 884. Shaw was also the first doctor (a physician and surgmn) to come 
to Northwestem Garland County, Arkansas. He set up practice at Buch7ille. Shaw would later save two 
terms (1 895-1 897) as State Legslator tiom Montgomery County. 

Drm ,Warcus Velpeau Pool (1857- 1925): Pool came to Bvckvjlle in the spring of 1 89 1. Pool was a member 
of the Buckville School Board, a member of the Masons and Odd Fellows. He was appointed Postmaster at 
Buckville on March 23, 1903. 

s Hatmaker (1854-191 7j: Hatmaker was appointed Postmaster at Buckville on March 1.1 907 

Dr. John Hamilton Chew (1842-1904): Chew was a Physician in tbe BuckviFle area in the 1880s. He served 
as a Confederate Soldier during the Civil War. 

The Bucfi'lle Cemetery is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A 
with local significance as the most-intact historic resource associated with the community of BuckviIle, 
Garland County, Arkansas, which was covered by the waters of Lake Ouachita after construction of the 
Bl&ely Dam in the mid- 1950s. 'The cemetery is also eligible under Criteria Consideration D: as a 
cemetery. 

The corning of Blakely Dam, and the dedication of the dam in 1956, looked to the hWe, but thoughts of 
those who once lived in the area flooded by Lake Ouachita remained in the past. By 1956, a generation had 
j pwn  up with the knowledge that thousands of acres would be obliterated. The residents' ancestors 
homesteaded the region, cIeared the land, built their homes, raised their families, buried their dead, and 
formed lasting relationships in the area. They witness the caring of the remains of family and friends away 
from local burial sites, With their lands sold, they watched as the forest was stripped and the buildings of 
their youth were tom down, and finally the land was flooded. The new lake changed their lives forever. 

jay Buchille Cemetery is the onIy visible Link to the lost communities of Buckville and Cedar Glades, 
*king memories of an earlier time and place. Buckville Cemetery is the only surviving resource associated 

with these communities that remains at its origmal location. 
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NW !4 of the NE '/4 of Section 34, T1 S, R22N. This is an approximation; the cemetery was never officially 
parceIed out. 

The above boundary includes all land historically associated with the BuckvilIe Cemetery. 






















